

BY-LAWS
of
STAUNTON DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT ASSOCIATION, INC.

ARTICLE I – PURPOSE

The Staunton Downtown Development Association is a non-profit organization committed, through a strong public/private partnership, to enhancing downtown Staunton's economic environment as a center of commerce while maintaining the character and integrity of the City's central business district as an attractive place to live, work and visit.

ARTICLE II – OFFICE

The principal office of the Association shall be located in the City of Staunton, Virginia.

ARTICLE III – MEMBERS

(1) Annual Meeting

The annual meeting of the members shall be held on the third Wednesday in September, unless the Board of Directors (the Board) fixes some other date, time or place for the meeting

(2) Special Meetings

Special meetings of the members for any purpose or purposes may be called by the President or by the Board and shall be called by the President at the request of not less than 25 percent of all members of the Association entitled to vote at the meetings.

(3) Place of Meetings

The Board shall designate the place of meeting for every meeting called by the Board.

(4) Notice of Meetings

Written or printed notices or electronic notification stating the date, time and place of the meetings, and, in the case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be delivered not less than ten (10) days and not more than thirty (30) days before the date of the meeting, either personally or by mail and/or e-mail, if consented to by the member, by or at the direction of the President, or the Secretary, or the officer or persons calling the meeting, to each member of record entitled to vote at such meeting. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail, addressed to the member at his/her address as it appears on the books of the Association, postage prepaid.

(5) Voting Lists

The officer or agent having charge of the books of the Association shall make, at least two (2) days before the mailing of ballots, and before any meeting other than the annual meeting, a complete list of the members entitled to vote, arranged in alphabetical order, which list shall be kept on file at the principal office of the Association and shall be subject to inspection by any member at any time during usual business hours. Such list shall be kept until the conclusion of the annual meeting and also be produced and kept open at the time and place of any meeting and shall be subject to the inspection of any member during the whole time of the meeting.

(6) Quorum

For all meetings of the members, 15 percent of the total members of the Association entitled to vote, represented in person, shall constitute a quorum.

(7) Voting

Each member entitled to vote in accordance with the terms and provisions of the Articles of Incorporation and these By-Laws shall be entitled to one (1) vote. Upon the demand of any two (2) members, the vote upon any question before the meeting shall be by ballot. All questions before the members shall be decided by a majority vote of those present and entitled to vote unless otherwise provided by the Articles of Incorporation, these By-Laws, or the laws of this state.

(8) Proxies

Members shall not have a right to vote by proxy.

(9) Business at Meetings

The business at all meetings of the members shall include the following, if appropriate: determination of a quorum, proof of notice of meeting or waiver of notice, approval of minutes of the preceding meeting, reports of officers, reports of committees, old business, and new business.

ARTICLE IV – BOARD OF DIRECTORS

(1) General powers

The business and affairs of the Association shall be managed by its Board. The Board may adopt such rules and regulations for the conduct of its meetings and the management of the Association as it deems proper, not inconsistent with the Articles of Incorporation, these By-Laws, and the laws of this state.

(2) Number, Tenure, Election and Qualifications

The Board shall be composed of the Immediate Past-President and twelve (12) Directors, divided into three classes of four members, who have been elected from and by the members. The Board shall also include the City Manager or his/her designee as a non-voting Ex-Officio member and a member of City Council in a liaison capacity. All Directors shall be elected for three-year terms; however, all vacancies shall be filled for the unexpired term. A majority of the Board members shall be property owners, business

owners or business operators in the Downtown Service District. A number of Directors equal to a majority of the total number of Board members will constitute a quorum.

(2A) Directors shall be elected by the membership by mailed ballot. Tallying of ballots shall be completed and the new Directors announced at the annual meeting.

Every active member shall have one (1) vote for each available Director's position.

Nominations to the ballot slate shall be made either: (a) by petition submitted to the Executive Director at least 60 days in advance of the annual meeting, signed by 10 percent of the members of record at the date of the previous annual membership meeting, or (b) by the nominating committee which shall be chaired by the Board President and made up of the Immediate Past President and any outgoing members of the Board.

Ballots shall be mailed to each member no less than 30 days and no more than 45 days before the annual meeting.

Signed ballots must be received at the Association's office by 5:00 p.m. two weeks prior to the annual meeting to be included in the count to determine the election of Directors. The ballots will be given, unopened, to the Board President, who shall convene the Nominating Committee for the purpose of counting the ballots. Unsigned ballots will not be counted.

The nominees receiving the greatest number of votes will fill the vacant positions on the Board of Directors. In the event of a tie, the vacancy in question will be determined by a majority vote of the members present at the annual meeting.

(2B) Term of office:

Each Director shall hold office for the term for which he or she is elected beginning upon the date of the annual membership meeting following his or her election.

Directors may be elected to two consecutive terms, except the Immediate Past-President's term as a member of the Board shall commence at the normal termination date of his or her term as President and shall continue to the next annual meeting of the membership.

(3) Regular meetings

Regular meetings of the Board shall be held on a schedule determined by the Board but no less frequently than twice a year.

(4) Special meetings

Special meetings of the Board may be called by or at the request of the President, Executive Director, or any two Directors. The person or persons authorized to call special meetings of the Board shall fix the time and place for holding such a special meeting.

(5) Notice

Notice of any special meeting shall be given at least four (4) days prior thereto by written notice delivered personally, e-mailed if consented to by the Director, or mailed to each Director at his/her preferred address. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail so addressed, with postage prepaid. The attendance of a Director at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where a Director attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

(6) Removal of Directors

Any director may be removed for cause by a majority vote of the Board. Any Director who fails to attend two (2) consecutive meetings of the Board without acceptable excuse will be subject to removal by the Board.

(7) Resignation

A Director may resign at any time by giving written notice, mailed or e-mailed, to the President or the Secretary, with a copy to the Executive Director. Unless otherwise specified in the notice, the resignation shall take effect upon receipt thereof by such officer, and the acceptance of the resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

(8) Executive Committee

The Executive Committee shall consist of the officers of the Association and the Immediate Past-President. The Executive Director shall be a non-voting member of the Executive Committee. Three (3) members of the Executive Committee shall constitute a quorum. Meetings of the Executive Committee shall be called by the President, Executive Director, or a majority of the Executive Committee. The Executive Committee shall be authorized to conduct the business of the Association between meetings of the Board. Minutes of the Executive Committee meetings will be sent to all Directors prior to Board meetings. The Executive Committee will also serve as the Personnel Committee for the Association.

(9) Standing Committees

There shall be at least four (4) standing committees: Promotions, Design, Economic Development, Organization. Each Committee shall consist of not less than five (5) participants, of which at least one shall be a Board member. Each committee will elect a chair and a secretary. The committee chair or a representative must present a report at each monthly Board meeting. Terms of committee members shall be for one year, commencing at the time of the annual membership meeting. Committee chairs will nominate committee members. Committee membership must be ratified by the Board by a simple majority vote. All Board members not holding office will be expected to serve on at least one committee. Committees are expected to meet on a regular basis. Three (3) committee members will constitute a quorum.

(A) Promotions

The Promotions Committee aims to create a positive image of downtown Staunton and maintain community pride in the Central Business District. The committee oversees promotional programs, produces the Downtown Shopping and Dining Guide, and designs group advertising efforts.

(B) Design

The Design Committee charge is to enhance the visual quality of downtown by addressing all the elements of its environment, buildings and storefronts as well as signs, public improvements, landscaping, merchandise displays, and promotional materials. The Design Committee works closely with City staff members in developing Streetscape Plans for designated areas.

(C) Economic Development

The Economic Development Committee has as its goal the nurturing of existing businesses and the attraction of new ones. Through market studies and recruitment of specific businesses, the Committee works to strengthen downtown's existing assets and fulfill its broadest market potential by improving the competitiveness of downtown merchants.

(D) Organization

The Organization Committee is responsible for overseeing membership development efforts and membership policy. This committee sets fees and determines benefits, and also hosts activities such as SDDA's Annual Meeting, a Volunteer Appreciation event and the quarterly Business After Hours, designed to introduce new businesses and downtown workers to SDDA and each other. This committee also oversees production of the quarterly newsletter.

(10) Ad Hoc Committees

The Board, by Resolution, may designate such other Committees as may be appropriate for carrying on the business of the Association. Each such committee shall serve at the pleasure of the Board and have as its chairperson a member of the Board.

(11) Vacancies to the Board

In the case of the resignation or removal of a Director, any member of the Board shall nominate persons to fill this vacancy subject to the affirmative vote of the Board. The term of any Director so selected shall be equal to the remaining term of the vacancy.

(12) Any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board may be taken without a meeting if all members of the Board consent thereto in writing. Any such written consent shall be filed with the minutes of the Board. A written consent shall have the same force and effect as a unanimous vote of the Board.

ARTICLE V – OFFICERS

(1) Number

The officers of the Association shall be a President, a Vice-President, a Secretary, and a Treasurer, each of whom shall be elected from and by the Directors. Assistant officers as may be deemed necessary may be appointed by the Board.

(2) Election and term of office

Officers shall be elected at the first Board meeting held after the annual membership meeting. Each officer shall hold office until a successor has been duly elected, except in the case of resignation. The President will continue on the Board as the Immediate Past-President for a term of one year. Officers may serve unlimited one-year terms subject to their eligibility for Board membership.

(3) Removal

Any officer elected or appointed by the Board may be removed by the Board whenever, in its judgment, the best interests of the Association would be served thereby.

(4) Vacancies

A vacancy in any office because of death, resignation, removal, disqualification, or otherwise, shall be filled by the Board for the unexpired portion of the term.

(5) President

The President shall in general supervise the affairs of the Association. The President shall, when present, preside at all meetings of the Association and the Board. The President shall sign, with the Secretary or any other proper officer of the Association thereunto authorized by the Board, any deed, mortgages, bonds, contracts, or other instruments which the Board has authorized to be executed, except in cases where the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board to another person.

(6) Vice-President

The Vice-President shall perform such duties as from time to time may be assigned him/her by the President or the Board. In the absence of the President, the Vice-President will preside over all meetings. In the event of the President's resignation, death or inability to act, the Vice-President will immediately succeed to the office of President for the remainder of the term.

(7) Secretary

The Secretary, assisted by SDDA staff, shall keep the minutes of members' and Board meetings in one or more books provided for that purpose, see that all notices are duly given in accordance with the provisions of these By-Laws or, as required, be custodian of Association records and keep a register of the post office and e-mail addresses of each member, which shall be furnished to the Secretary by such members, and in general perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and such other duties

as from time to time may be assigned to him/her by the President or by the Board. The Secretary shall sign, with the President or any other proper officer of the Association thereunto authorized by the Board, any Deed, mortgages, bonds, contracts, or other instruments which the Board has authorized to be executed, except in cases where the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board to another person. An Assistant Secretary may be appointed by the Board if desired.

(8) Treasurer

The Treasurer receives and reviews bank statements prior to delivering them to staff for reconciling. The Treasurer reviews monthly and year-end financial statements and presents them to the Board. The Treasurer shall have signing authority for checks along with the President and the Executive Director and in general perform all the duties incident to the office of Treasurer and such other duties as from time to time may be assigned by the President or by the Board. If required by the Board, the Treasurer shall give a bond for the faithful discharge of duties in such sum and with such surety or sureties as the Board shall determine. An Assistant Treasurer may be appointed by the Board if desired.

ARTICLE VI – EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

The Board must appoint an Executive Director who shall be the principal executive officer of the Association, subject to the control of the Board. The Executive Director shall carry out the business of the corporation within the authority granted by the Board and shall report to the President. A detailed job description for the Executive Director is attached to the Policy and Procedures Manual.

ARTICLE VII – CONTRACTS, LOANS, CHECKS, AND DEPOSITS

(1) Contracts

The Board may authorize any officer or officers, agent or agents, to enter into any Contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Association, and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

(2) Loans

No loans shall be contracted on behalf of the Association and no evidences of indebtedness shall be issued in its name unless by a Resolution of the Board. Such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

(3) Checks, Drafts, etc.

All checks, drafts, or other orders for the payment of money, notes, or other evidences of indebtedness issued in the name of the Association shall be signed and countersigned by the President, Treasurer, and/or Executive Director and in such manner as shall from time to time be determined by Resolution of the Board. All checks require two authorized signatures.

(4) Deposits

All funds of the Association shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the Association in such banks, trust companies, or other depositories as the Board may select.

ARTICLE VIII – RULES OF ORDER

Robert’s Rules of Order shall govern the proceedings of all meetings of the Association, the Board and Committees unless otherwise specifically provided by these By-Laws.

ARTICLE IX – FISCAL YEAR

The Fiscal year of the Association shall begin on the first day of July in each year.

ARTICLE X – WAIVER OF NOTICE

Unless otherwise provided by law, whenever any notice is required to be given to any member of the Board or of the Association under the provisions of these By-Laws or under the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation, a waiver thereof in writing, signed by the person or persons entitled to such notice, whether before or after the time stated therein, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice.

ARTICLE XI – INDEMNIFICATION OF OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

Each person now and thereafter a Director or officer of the Association (and his/her heirs, executors, and administrators) shall be indemnified by the Association against all claims, liabilities, judgments, settlements, costs, and expenses, including all attorneys’ fees, imposed upon or reasonably incurred by him/her in connection with or resulting from any action, suit, proceeding, or claim to which he/she is or may be made a party by reason of his/her being or having been a Director or officer of the Association (whether or not a Director or officer at the time such costs or expenses are incurred by or imposed upon him/her), except in relation to matters as to which he/she shall have been finally adjudged in such action, suit, or proceeding to be liable for gross negligence or willful misconduct in the performance of his/her duties as such Director or officer. In the event of a settlement, the indemnification shall be made only if the Association shall be advised, in case none of the persons involved shall be or have been a Director, by the Board and otherwise by independent counsel to be appointed by the Board, that in its or his/her opinion such Director or officer was not guilty of gross negligence or willful misconduct in the performance of his/her duty, that such settlement was or is in the best interests of the Association. If the determination is to be made by the Board, it may rely as to all questions of law on the advice of independent counsel. Such right of indemnification shall not be deemed exclusive of any rights to which he/she may be entitled under any By-Law, Agreement, vote of members or otherwise.

ARTICLE XII – AMENDMENTS

At any annual members' meeting or at any special members' meeting when the proposed amendment has been sent out in the notice of such meeting, these By-Laws must be altered, amended, or repealed and new By-Laws may be adopted by a vote of the majority of all members. These By-Laws may also be altered, amended, or repealed by a vote of two-thirds (2/3) of all the Directors of the Association holding office at the time of any regular meeting of the Board or special meeting called for such purposes, provided notice of the By-Law change has been given 10 days in advance of the meeting.

ARTICLE XIII – CONFLICTS WITH ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION

Should any provision of these By-Laws or amendments thereto be in conflict with the Articles of Incorporation, the Articles of Incorporation shall control.

Revised January 13, 2006